No. 44404-6-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION 2 OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CONTRACTOR STATE OF MARCHAN SON

WOODS VIEW II, LLC and DARLENE PIPER,

Appellants/Cross-Respondents,

V.

KITSAP COUNTY,

Respondent/Cross-Appellant.

On Appeal From Pierce County Superior Court
The Hon. Susan Serko
Pierce County Superior No. 11-2-11450-9

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

BERRY & BECKETT, PLLP Guy W. Beckett, WSBA #14939 1708 Bellevue Ave. Seattle, WA 98122 Tel: 206.441.5444

Attorneys for Appellants

I. INTRODUCTION

Appellants Woods View II, LLC ("WVII") and Darlene Piper ("Piper") spent several years acquiring nearly twenty acres in Kitsap County, and planning for the development of 78 homes on that property. The project complied with all State and County land use requirements, the property was vested for the proposed development, and WVII obtained all permits and approvals necessary from the County for the development to occur. However, behind the scenes, County political leaders did not want the development and were trying to prevent it. Acting on the back-channels direction of the Board of Commissioners, the County engaged in a four-year campaign to delay and interfere with, and ultimately scuttle, the project. Due to the County's delay and interference, WVII was unable to complete the project, the property was lost to foreclosure, and Piper, its principal who had personally guaranteed hundreds of thousands of dollars of WVII's debt, lost her life savings and went bankrupt.

WVII and Piper filed this action against the County to recover the damages caused by its improper delay and interference. Mere days before trial, the trial court dismissed on summary judgment, without explanation, all of the Appellants' damages claims, even those for which the County had not requested dismissal. This Court should reverse the trial court's dismissal and permit the Appellants' claims to be decided by a jury.

II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

 The trial court committed error when it dismissed all of Appellants' damages claims on summary judgment.

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

- 1. Did the trial court commit error when it dismissed all of Appellants' damages claims on summary judgment, even though Appellants raised genuine issues of material fact?
 - 2. Were Appellants' claims barred by statutes of limitations?
- 3. Were Appellants' tortious interference claims barred by collateral estoppel?
- 4. Were Appellants' tortious interference and negligence claims barred by the *Noerr-Pennington* doctrine?
- 5. Were Appellants' tortious interference and negligence claims barred by the absence of proximate cause?
- 6. Did the trial court commit error when it dismissed Appellants' takings claims, when the County did not request dismissal of these claims in its motion for summary judgment?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Facts giving rise to lawsuit.

In 1909, parts of Kitsap County were platted with lots measuring 40' x 100'. CP 240. WVII acquired several of these contiguous platted lots,

totaling 19.76 acres. *Id.*; CP 29. Under applicable health regulations, these lots were too small to support individual septic systems, and there was no public sewer. CP 240-241. Washington State Department of Health ("DOH") regulations permitted waste treatment for residential developments to occur by means of a "Large Onsite Sewer System" ("LOSS") when certain conditions were met. CP 241. A LOSS does not require a single septic system for each residence, but instead utilizes a shared waste treatment system and drainfield. *Id.* WVII proposed a residential development for the "Woods View" property, utilizing a LOSS. CP 29. If a LOSS was used for waste treatment, 78 single-family homes could be built in the development. CP 241.

Ms. Piper was the sole owner of WVII. CP 597. WVII filed its application with Kitsap County for a Site Development Activity Permit ("SDAP") for the project on April 14, 2006; the application was deemed complete by the County for land use vesting on May 5, 2006. CP 306-308. Also in April 2006, WVII submitted a request for a SEPA determination of non-significance. CP 597. The SDAP was the only permit required for the grouping of the lots. *Id.* The County Ordinance required the County to make decisions on the SDAP application, and to issue a SEPA determination, within 78 days of the date the applications were deemed

¹ LOSS systems are common; there are hundreds of them in Washington. CP 758.

complete. CP 310-311. When WVII submitted the SDAP application, Ms. Piper was told by County officials that the application would be processed as a vested permit request, meaning that WVII would receive the SDAP under the land use requirements in place at that time. CP 605-606. Once the SDAP issued, 78 lots in the development could be constructed and sold for single-family residences. CP 606, 696.

The County didn't issue the MDNS until January 4, 2007. CP 313-314. The County's approval of the SDAP didn't occur until December 10, 2007. CP 316-317. During part of this period, the County Department of Community Development ("DCD") was instructed by the County not to process the application. CP 491, 598. Ms. Piper learned about this instruction in late October 2006. CP 598.

The County repeatedly stated to WVII and many others (including the Kitsap County Superior Court) that it had no authority or jurisdiction to approve or disapprove the LOSS system proposed for the project, and that the sole authority for making that decision rested with the DOH. CP 316, 322, 324, 326, 328, 396, 401, 402, 408.

DOH regulations provided three management methods for an approved LOSS: (1) the LOSS could be owned or maintained by a public entity; (2) the property served by the LOSS could be held by one owner and the LOSS operated by a private operator; and (3) the LOSS could be

operated by a private operator, with operation guaranteed by a third-party public entity. *See* WAC 246-272B-08100(2)(a)(vi)(A)(I), (II) (repealed, effective July 1, 2011); CP 1580-1583. The first and the third methods permitted individual lots of the property served by the LOSS to be sold, while the second didn't. *Id*.

Karcher Creek Sewer District, an independent municipality, entered into a contract with WVII to provide operation and maintenance for the LOSS, which enabled the DOH to approve the LOSS as owned or maintained by a public entity. CP 600, 834-835. The Sewer District believed that the relevant Washington statutes and regulations authorized it to own and/or operate the LOSS. CP 835. However, when the County learned in June 2007 that the Sewer District had agreed to own and/or operate the LOSS, it pressured the Sewer District to back out of the agreement. *Id.* The County told the Sewer District it did not have authority to own or operate the LOSS; although the District did not agree with the County, it bowed to the pressure exerted upon it and informed WVII it would not own or operate it. *Id.*

The District's withdrawal from the contract left WVII without a municipal operator for the LOSS. CP 600. In order to keep the project moving, WVII agreed to a Single-Owner Management System for the LOSS, while it sought a successor public entity for maintenance of the

LOSS or as a guarantor for a private contractor operator. *Id.*

The County knew that although it did not want to approve WVII's SDAP application, it had to do so, because the proposed development complied with all applicable County ordinances and regulations. CP 330-333, 433, 436-437, 443. Nevertheless, the County devised another way – a secret way – to prevent its construction. An attorney in the County Prosecuting Attorney's office, Shelley Kneip, came up with a plan. CP 433. One of the requirements for DOH LOSS approval was proof that the LOSS complied with local land use standards. *See* WAC 246-272B-08001(2)(a)(ii) (repealed, effective July 1, 2011). Even though the County DCD had determined that the development complied with applicable standards, Ms. Kneip believed that if the County informed DOH that it didn't, the "[S]tate would have to deny" the LOSS permit application. CP 433. On October 30, 2007, Ms. Kneip wrote to DCD staff members,

The state is required to ensure that these LOSS systems comply with the local comprehensive plan. In the case of the Woods View project – it did not comply with the current comprehensive plan, but was considered vested and the only permits required was a building permit and a SDAP, neither of which include land use approval. In my conversations with Mr. Benson, the state considers a project complies with local plans if the county does not denying (sic) it. But I think they are two differing things – even though it is "vested" it is not conforming to our current plan. Thus, if the state were to inquire of DCD whether this meets our plan – DCD could say

² See CP 330-333. The Kitsap County Hearing Examiner and the Superior Court both agreed that the proposed development complied with all local and State development requirements. CP 354, 372-373, 375-376, 391, CP 393.

no, and the state would have to deny it. I am not sure if they do inquire or if they just rely on the developer to tell them it is permitted.

What do you all think? Should we make this a "loop" with the state to ensure that the county is not allowing urban development in a rural area?

Id.

The County indeed completed the "loop"; it repeatedly communicated to the DOH its unfounded assertions that the project didn't comply with the County's Comprehensive Plan or the Growth Management Act ("GMA"). See, e.g., 335-336, 340-341, 343-344, 350-351, 417, 428-430.

WVII and Ms. Piper spent significant funds and went to great lengths to meet the County's requirements in order to obtain SDAP approval. CP 596-606. They were not aware the County was trying to torpedo the project with the DOH. CP 601, 604. The County finally approved WVII's SDAP on December 10, 2007, over nineteen months after the application had been deemed "complete." CP 316-317. The County placed no conditions on SDAP approval concerning the LOSS, except that the LOSS had to be approved by the DOH. *Id*.

Neighbors appealed the County's issuance of the MDNS and the SDAP approval. CP 354-386. On March 18, 2008, for the Hearing Examiner's appeal hearing, DCD submitted a Staff Report stating that the lots in the proposed development were "historic non-conforming lots, also

known as 'lots of record,' that "Kitsap County Zoning regulations allow for development" of such lots, and that "[N]either the GMA nor Kitsap County Comprehensive Plan prohibit construction" of single-family homes on such lots. CP 331-332.

Just five days earlier, however, on March 12, 2008, at a meeting concerning the Woods View project called at the County's request and attended by, among others, DOH officials; Larry Keeton, the County's DCD Director; and Ms. Kneip, the County's true position regarding the project, and whether the DOH should approve the LOSS – regardless of whether the development was consistent with applicable County ordinances and regulations -- was revealed. CP 340-341. Notes taken by a DOH employee state:

The County believes DOH should not approve the LOSS project because the over-all development is not consistent with the County's and GMA's land use designations. They assert this violates the State's duty to ensure projects are consistent with local planning.

The key issue is land use, not public health or environmental protections. If DOH had asked the County if this project is consistent with their planning and zoning regs, they would have told us "no". However, the County sees that it has no authority to deny the project.

They point to the Central Hearings Board order which dismisses an appeal on this development, but issued 8 pages of opinion, including that Health and Ecology must look at the county comprehensive plan and local zoning as the controlling factor in approving a LOSS (technology, soil, etc. that we use to determine LOSS approval is secondary, according to the

Board). CTED³ notes that the Board will likely continue to voice this opinion in future decisions.

Both CTED and DOH AAGs question this interpretation. The DOH regs (290-272B) only require the project proponent to include "a discussion of compliance with other state and local zoning, platting, health, and building regulations as they relate to sewage treatment and disposal". The developer met this test.

Id. The point of the meeting was for the County to tell DOH that it must not approve the LOSS proposed for the Woods View development. 1673-1674.⁴ No representative of WVII was invited to or even informed about this meeting. CP 601.

Shortly after the meeting, on March 19, 2008, DOH approved WVII's LOSS application, with the single-owner condition requested by the County. CP 346-347, 601, 1626-1627. The County's interference delayed DOH's consideration and approval of the application. CP 1626.⁵

³ "CTED" is an acronym for the State of Washington's Department of Commerce, Trade, and Economic Development.

⁴ A March 12, 2008 DOH "weekly report" e-mail described the meeting as follows:

CTED representatives set up a meeting for us this week to discuss Kitsap County's assertion that OSWP must not approve a LOSS project ("Woods View") because it is not consistent with local and state land use requirements. (We are near approval after a lengthy review process.) The county contends the lots proposed for development are too small for the rural area they exist in. However, they recognize the lots as valid/vested (due to plat date). Our AAG and the CTED AAG do not believe we have the authority to deny the project on these grounds. The County will now ask us to put conditions in our approval and operating permit to ensure that the property (and LOSS) remain under single ownership.

CP 343

⁵ Figuring out whether the development actually met the County's land use requirements, despite the County's protests that it didn't, "was a significant issue" for DOH, "a

The day after the DOH approved the LOSS, on March 20, 2008, the neighbors' appeals of the SDAP approval and MDNS were heard before the County Hearing Examiner. CP 355. The Examiner affirmed the SDAP approval and the MDNS determination. CP 384-385. Findings of Fact included:

- 9 ...Section 17.310.010 [of the Kitsap County Code] also recognized rural areas "which had been committed ... for rural residential uses on smaller lots." Thus the RR [Rural Residential Code] classification recognized smaller lots within the rural area. Furthermore, the KCC does not prohibit development of historic or legacy lots.
- 10. ... [T]he comprehensive plan recognizes the existence of historic or legacy lots and also recognizes the difficulties in directing growth to UGAs until development of the legacy lots is completed. The comprehensive plan contemplates the development of these lots. Thus, both the comprehensive plan and the KCC recognize historic lots and anticipate their development.... Thus, the development of historic lots within a rural area of the County and within the RR zone classification violates no provision of the comprehensive plan or zoning regulations. ... [T]he applicant may develop the historic lots.

CP 372-373. With respect to the neighbors' argument that the County's approval of the project violated the GMA, the Examiner found,

17. Appellant asserts that approval of the project would constitute urbanization of a rural area and thus violates GMA and the comprehensive plan. Such allegation does not address a deficiency in the stormwater design. As set forth above, development of historic lots violates neither the comprehensive plan nor the KCC. The lots already exist.

relatively important issue in the final approval" that DOH "grappled with", and took DOH time that could have been used to work on other technical issues concerning the LOSS. CP 1631.

10

CP 375-376. The Examiner's affirmation of the SDAP approval and the MDNS designation was not conditioned on the property being maintained as single-ownership. CP 384-385. No restrictions on the development related in any way to the LOSS were required. *Id*.

The Hearing Examiner's decision was appealed to the Kitsap County Superior Court. The County, citing *Woods v. Kittitas County*, 162 Wn.2d 597, 174 P.3d 25 (2007), argued that the neighbors' contention that the project violated the GMA should be rejected, as the GMA cannot be used to challenge site-specific land use decisions for alleged noncompliance, CP 407-408. The County did not disclose its desire to prevent the project.

In May 2009, the Superior Court affirmed the Hearing Examiner's decision, specifically finding that the County's Zoning Code and Comprehensive Plan allowed the proposed development, and that the proposed development was not a nonconforming use. CP 391, 393.

By the time the neighbors' appeal to the proposed development was dismissed, development and construction financing had tightened. CP 603. However, Ms. Piper had contacted The Legacy Group ("Legacy"), a real property development lender, in March 2009; it had expressed interest in financing the WVII's development. *Id.* One of Legacy's conditions for lending was that the LOSS Management Plan had to be changed so that individual lots and homes could be sold. CP 125, 603-604. Without

financing from Legacy, WVII's project would fail. CP 605.

Because the County had run Karcher Creek Sewer District off, the only way WVII could sell individual lots in the development was to have a private operator manage the LOSS, with a public entity guaranteeing performance. *See* WAC 246-272B-08100(2)(a)(vi)(A)(I), (II) (repealed, effective July 1, 2011). By the summer of 2009, WVII located a new public entity to serve as guarantor for a private LOSS operator and made a request to DOH for a change in LOSS management approval to the third method, which was private operator with a third-party public entity guarantor. CP 745-746, 759.

When WVII applied for the management change, Richard Benson, the DOH engineer considering the request, believed that approval of the request was "doable." CP 1643-1646. Before September 3, 2009, WVII submitted a letter of intent to DOH signed by Kittitas Sewer District No. 8 to become the guarantor for the operation of the LOSS, and the complete contract was submitted to DOH on October 26, 2009. CP 1702-1703, 1706. No later than November 6, 2009, WVII submitted everything that DOH had requested for the management change. CP 1707.

In September 2009, Mr. Benson told Brett Eley of Legacy that he did not see any legal impediments to WVII's request for LOSS management change, and that he believed that the request could be processed and

approved within one to two months. CP 127, 1838. In a September 2009 conversation with Dave Walden, a Kitsap County realtor assisting WVII, Mr. Benson said that approval of the management change would take about a week or two unless the County opposed it; if the County opposed it, approval would take six months to a year. CP 1846-1847, 1848-1852.

Under DOH regulations, in order to obtain the requested management change, WVII had to again show that the proposed method of operation complied with the County Comprehensive Plan and local land use and development regulations. CP 1651; see also WAC 246-272B-08001(2)(a)(ii) (repealed, effective July 1, 2011). Despite the Supreme Court's decision in Woods v. Kittitas County that the GMA cannot prevent a site-specific request for a land use if the proposed use meets local standards and the County's citation of that case to the Superior Court in the neighbors' appeal, despite the Hearing Examiner's and Superior Court's rulings that the proposed development complied with the GMA and the County Comprehensive Plan and ordinances, and despite the fact that the County placed no restrictions on WVII's SDAP related to the LOSS, when the County learned of the 2009 request for management change, Mr. Keeton, DCD Director, wrote Mr. Benson:

The county objects to any change of conditions that allows the property to be sold as individual units and allows for governmental or quasi-governmental entities to operate and bond the system.

Our understanding of the State's Growth Management Act, which State Departments are to adhere to as well, precludes urban levels of service to be provide[d] in rural areas. Our County does not allow the extension of urban level of services to rural areas by government/quasi-governmental entities. ...[Y]our changing of the conditions puts this county at risk regarding the Growth Management Act.

Therefore, I am requesting on behalf of the County that no conditions be changed until we have had ample opportunity to explore the impact and if they are consistent with the County's Comprehensive Plan, the State's Growth Management Act, and Hearing Board orders related to this issue.

CP 417. Twelve days later, Mr. Keeton wrote Mr. Benson again:

[W]e cannot support any government entity to act as a "third party guarantor" as it would appear that urban levels of service are being provided outside an urban growth area, which is inconsistent with the County's comprehensive plan and the Growth Management Act.

Id. Mr. Keeton didn't forward a copy of his correspondence to WVII or Ms. Piper. CP 421-426.

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