NO. 44404-6-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

WOODS VIEW II, LLC and DARLENE PIPER,

Appellants,

v.

KITSAP COUNTY,

Respondent,

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Mark R. Johnsen, WSBA #11080 Of Karr Tuttle Campbell

and

Neil Wachter, WSBA #23278 Kitsap County Prosecuting Attorney's Office Attorneys for Respondent Kitsap County

701 Fifth Ave., Suite 3300 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 223-1313

#913289 v1 / 13165-180

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

There being no facts establishing an exception to the Public Duty Doctrine, the general rule of non-liability applies, barring Woods View's negligence claim as a matter of law.

G. <u>There is no Basis for a Tortious Interference Claim</u>.

In addition to its negligence claim, Woods View alleged that Kitsap County intentionally interfered with its business expectancy. But that theory is clearly not available to Woods View, in view of the undisputed facts of this case, and the prior rulings by Judge Settle and the Ninth Circuit.

A claim for tortious interference requires: (1) a business relationship or expectancy; (2) knowledge by the defendant of the relationship; (3) intentional interference that results in termination of the relationship; (4) an improper purpose or means; (5) resultant damages. Leingang v. Pierce County Medical Bureau, 131 Wn.2d 133, 157, 930 P.2d 288 (1997). Liability will not be found unless the plaintiff shows that the defendant interfered with the relationship intentionally and for an improper purpose. Commodore v. University Mechanical Contractors. Inc., 120 Wn.2d 120, 137, 839 P.2d 314 (1992). When the defendant acts not for the purpose of interfering with the business relationship but rather interferes in an incidental manner, no liability arises. Burke & Thomas. Inc. v. International Organization of Masters, 21 Wn. App. 313, 585 P.2d

152 (1978), <u>aff'd</u>, 92 Wn.2d 762. In other words, interference must be
"purposefully improper." <u>Omega Environmental, Inc. v. Gilbarco, Inc.</u>,
127 F.3d 1157 (9th Cir. 1997), <u>cert. denied</u>, 525 U.S. 812.

There is no competent evidence that Kitsap County intentionally interfered with Woods View's potential relationship with the Legacy Group. Plaintiffs contend that the County's September 2009 telephone discussion with Legacy (which was initiated by Legacy, not the County) constituted tortious interference. Woods View alleges that County officials said that DOH would not approve the modified LOSS proposal and/or that further hearings might be necessary. Yet the Declaration of Legacy representative Brent Eley refutes the assertions of intentional interference. Eley states that when asked by Legacy whether permits could be issued for a LOSS system involving individual lot ownership, the employees confirmed that DOH was the agency considering the modified LOSS proposal, and that the County did not know what DOH was going to do. Mr. Eley states that the County employees were *noncommital* as to whether Woods View's modified proposal would ultimately be approved. (CP 124).

Plaintiffs have falsely asserted that the County told the Legacy Group that there would be further hearings following a decision by the Department of Health on the modified LOSS proposal. This is inaccurate. As Brent Eley's first and second declarations make clear, at most the County employees were non-committal and said *they did not know* whether there would be a need for further hearings because they did not know what DOH was going to do. (CP 124; CP 86-87).

Moreover, any statement by County employees that there might be further hearings following a decision by DOH on the modified LOSS approval would have been accurate. As Darlene Piper acknowledged, neighbors opposed to the project appealed at virtually every opportunity; and especially targeted the DOH LOSS application process. (CP 1393-94; CP 1417-18). Neighbors had already appealed the decision of the Hearing Examiner, as well as the decision of the Board of County Commissioners on the SDAP approval. (CP 1403-1404). They had also sent a flood of objections to DOH, urging rejection of the LOSS proposal. (CP 1431-In September 2009, when County officials sent their last 1433). communications to DOH regarding the LOSS application process, it was entirely plausible – indeed likely -- that the neighbors would have also challenged a decision by DOH if it approved Woods View's modified LOSS proposal. Similarly, if DOH had denied Woods View's modified LOSS application, it would be reasonable to assume that Woods View would have appealed that denial. Thus, a statement in September 2009 that there could be further hearings following a DOH decision on the modified LOSS proposal was a true statement, and certainly could not form the basis of a claim for tortious interference. Where a statement is true, it cannot constitute tortious interference:

There is of course no liability for interference with a contract ... on the part of one who merely gives truthful information to another. ... This is true even though the facts are marshaled in such a way that they speak for themselves and the person to whom the information is given immediately recognizes them as a reason for breaking his contract or refusing to deal with another. ...

Restatement (Second) of Torts § 772, com. B (1979); <u>Thompson v. Paul</u>, 402 F.Supp.2d 1010, 1117 (D. Ariz. 2005). Mr. Eley's declaration expressly refutes plaintiffs' allegation that the County intentionally interfered with Legacy's relationship with Woods View":

At the same time, we did not feel as though the County actors tried to discourage our consideration of loaning to Woods View II LLC and did not perceive the County as trying to inject itself into our business relationship with Woods View II LLC or Ms. Piper. I do not recall any County actor stating that the 78 lots would never be allowed to be sold as individually owned lots.

(CP 124-125).

In short, there is simply no basis for a tortious interference claim arising from Kitsap County's contacts with the Legacy Group. It should be remembered that it was the Legacy Group which approached Kitsap County as a part of its normal due diligence process; the County did not initiate the communication. Moreover, the comments from County employees were noncommittal, rather than the definitively negative remarks alleged in the Complaint.

In any event, a discussion regarding the potential outcome of a pending legal matter does not constitute tortious interference. In <u>Schmerer</u> <u>v. Darcy</u>, 80 Wn. App. 499, 910 P.2d 498 (1996), the Washington Court of

Appeals held that a statement by a party asserting his ownership of disputed property and expressing uncertainty as to what he was going to do with it, did not constitute tortious interference, as a matter of law:

The exchange of correspondence is nothing more than inquiries by an interested party in the outcome of the suit by the Darcys v. Ms. Schmerer. . . . Finally, the affidavit of the Darcys' lawyers merely references a statement by Mr. Schmerer that he believed the house was his and he had not decided what he was going to do with it. **Simply put, that is not interference with a contract**. Restatement 2nd Torts § 773 (exercising in good faith one's legal interest is not improper interference).

80 Wn. App. at 506. (Emphasis added).

The comments by Kitsap County officials were non-committal. But even if they had opined that the modified LOSS application was unlikely to be approved, that would not be actionable. As noted earlier, when one is "merely asserting an arguable interpretation of existing law," there is no tortious interference. Leingang, supra, 131 Wn.2d at 157.

In this case, Judge Settle's summary judgment ruling effectively foreclosed a tortious interference cause of action. Judge Settle held that Kitsap County's position that the GMA prevents a public entity from operating or guaranteeing a LOSS outside an urban area was "rational" and at the very least "fairly debatable":

Defendants have adequately established on at least a fairly debatable basis that they acted in a manner that was rationally related to the governmental interest in public health as it relates to permitting a LOSS in an urban growth area in a manner required by the comprehensive plan in effect. (CP 114). Because the County was asserting an arguable interpretation of existing law, it cannot be liable for tortious interference. <u>Leingang</u>, <u>supra</u>.Woods View is barred by collateral estoppel from challenging Judge Settle's order in this case.

Moreover, the tortious interference claim is barred by "privilege." Exercising in good faith one's own legal interests cannot constitute improper interference. Id. A local government's exercise of its land use authority ordinarily cannot be a basis for a claim of tortious interference with a business expectancy. <u>Bakay v. Yarnes and Clallam County</u>, 431 F. Supp.2d 1103, 1113 (W.D. WA 2006); <u>Kane v. City of Bainbridge Island</u>, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 138848 (W.D. WA 2011). The rule is clearly set forth in the Second Restatement of Torts:

One who, by asserting in good faith a legally protected interest of his own or threatening in good faith to protect the interest by appropriate means, intentionally causes a third person not to perform an existing contract or enter into a perspective contractual relationship with another does not interfere improperly with the other's relations if the actor believes that his interest may otherwise be impaired or destroyed by the performance of the contract or transaction.

Restatement (Second) of Torts § 773. As Woods View acknowledges in its Opening Brief, Kitsap County had genuine concerns that permitting the dense development and urban facilities proposed by Woods View could violate the GMA and the County's Comprehensive Plan. (Brief, p. 19). The County had previously been sanctioned by the Growth Board for allowing urban density in rural areas. (CP 150-151). In expressing its concerns that the GMA prohibited the kind of LOSS system proposed by Woods View, Kitsap County was protected from liability for tortious interference, under the doctrine of privilege. The County was entitled to express its opinion as a part of exercising its own legal interest in ensuring lawful land use in the County. Communicating such a position cannot be tortious interference, as a matter of law.

- H. <u>The Takings Claim Was Properly Dismissed on Multiple Legal</u> <u>Grounds</u>.
 - 1. <u>The Takings Claim Was Extensively Briefed and Analyzed</u> in the Trial Court.

Contrary to the assertions in Woods Views' Opening Brief, Kitsap County asked for summary dismissal of the takings claim, as well as the other remaining state law claims. The County first sought dismissal of the takings claim in state court in its Motion for Summary Judgment filed August 12, 2011. (CP 50-54; 1345-1347). It again raised and addressed the numerous defenses to a takings claim – upon the request of Judge Serko -- in its Supplemental Brief in Support of Summary Judgment, dated November 14, 2012. (CP 1902-1903).

For its part, Woods View addressed the takings claim in Plaintiffs' Opposition to Kitsap County's Motion for Summary Judgment filed September 30, 2011 (CP 227-229), as well as Plaintiffs' Supplemental Brief filed November 19, 2012. (CP 1931-1934). To suggest that the takings claim was not raised and addressed by the trial court is untrue.

2. The Takings Claim is Barred by Res Judicata.

Judge Settle ruled that Woods View's "takings" claim was groundless. His order dismissed the takings claim as a matter of law. (CP 115-116). Because that claim had already been litigated and rejected in federal court, Woods View was barred from pursuing it in state court, based on the doctrine of res judicata. In general, res judicata prevents a court from deciding a claim in a second lawsuit which has been decided to the contrary from the first lawsuit. <u>Hilltop Terrace Ass'n v. Island</u> County, 126 Wn.2d 22, 30, 891 P.2d 29 (1995).

There is no substantive difference between the U.S. Constitution and the Washington State Constitution with regard to liability for inverse condemnation arising from land use regulations. Therefore, it would be a violation of res judicata for Woods View to seek a different ruling on its takings claim in superior court.

3. <u>No Court Has Ever Held That a Local Agency's</u> <u>Communication With a State Decision Maker Could Give</u> <u>Rise to a Constitutional Takings.</u>

Even if res judicata were not a bar, there were no grounds for Woods View to prevail on a takings claim. As explained in greater detail in Section I, <u>infra</u>, there was no denial of a Woods View permit application by Kitsap County. To the contrary. Kitsap County issued approvals on the SDAP and issued a mitigated determination of nonsignificance (MDNS) in 2007. The project was unable to proceed until Woods View obtained the approval of the modified LOSS from DOH, which did not issue until 2010. Because DOH was the agency responsible for reviewing and issuing LOSS approval, there is no conceivable way that *Kitsap County* could be liable in inverse condemnation for the LOSS process or decision.

Where a city or county is insufficiently involved in the conduct allegedly causing the landowner's damages, there can be no recovery in inverse condemnation. <u>Pande Cameron & Co. of Seattle, Inc. v. Central</u> <u>Puget Sound Regional Transit Authority</u>, 610 F.Supp.2d 1288, 1310 (W.D. WA 2009), <u>affirmed</u>, 2010 U.S. App. LEXIS 7802 (9th Cir. 2010). There appears to be no case nationwide in which a governmental entity has been held liable in inverse condemnation based on sending comments to a *different* governmental entity that was deciding a land use issue.

4. <u>Denial of or Delay in Issuing a Permit Does Not Give Rise</u> to a Takings Claim.

Yet another reason for dismissal of the takings claim is the settled principle that mere delay or denial of a land use permit does not ordinarily fall within the rubric of a constitutional takings analysis. In <u>Mission</u> <u>Springs v. City of Spokane</u>, 134 Wn.2d 947, 954 P.2d 250 (1998), a landowner alleged that the city had arbitrarily refused to process his grading permit and then unlawfully withheld the permit. The Washington Supreme Court ultimately held that the owner's due process rights had been violated, but rejected the plaintiff's argument that a taking had occurred: The talisman of a taking is government action which forces some private persons alone to shoulder affirmative public burdens 'which, in all fairness and justice, should be borne by the public as a whole.' (Citations omitted). The conduct here does not suggest that appropriative governmental action of which the 5th Amendment taking clause speaks but rather rings of deprivation of property through arbitrary interference with that process.

134 Wn.2d at 964.

As noted above, it was the Washington Department of Health (DOH) that was the decision maker on the LOSS permit. But even if Kitsap County had wrongfully delayed or denied a permit, that would not give rise to a takings claim.

5. <u>The Woods View Property Was Not Denied All Economic</u> <u>Value</u>.

Yet another basis for dismissal of the takings claim is the undisputed fact that the Woods View property was not deprived of all economically viable use. Indeed, County regulations allowed Woods View to consolidate lots in such a way that a large number of homes could have been built even *without* the unconventional and controversial LOSS septic system. (CP 3, 62-63). Because Woods View was not denied all economically viable use of the property, a takings analysis is simply inapplicable.

The Washington Court of Appeals had occasion to address a takings claim in the context of a land use decision which required an owner to consolidate substandard ancient lots. The court held as a matter of law that an ordinance restricting development of substandard lots did not constitute a regulatory taking absent a showing that the ordinance denied the owner all economically viable use of the property. <u>Tekoa</u> <u>Construction, Inc. v. City of Seattle</u>, 56 Wn. App. 28, 36, 781 P.2d 1324 (1989), <u>rev. denied</u>, 114 Wn.2d 1005. A takings claim requires proof that the regulatory scheme is so onerous as to render the property completely without economically viable use. <u>Manke Lumber Co., Inc. v. Central</u> <u>Puget Sound Growth Management Hearings Board</u>, 113 Wn. App. 615, 631, 53 P.3d 1011 (2002), <u>rev. denied</u>, 148 Wn.2d 1017.

Moreover, a mere temporary prohibition on development does not rise to the level of a taking. <u>Tahoe-Sierra Presidential Council, Inc. v.</u> <u>Tahoe Regulatory Planning Agency</u>, 535 U.S. 302, 322-23 (2002) (cited with approval in <u>Manke Lumber, supra</u> at 113 Wn. App. 631).

Indeed, an "as applied" regulatory taking claim is not ripe until the initial government decision maker has arrived at a definite position, conclusively determining whether the property owner was denied all reasonable benefits or use of its property. Only after a court has concluded that a permit application for any use would be futile is an "as applied" regulatory takings claim ripe for review. <u>Peste v. Mason County</u>, 133 Wn. App. 456, 473, 136 P.3d 140 (2006), <u>rev. denied</u>, 159 Wn.2d 1013. Woods View cannot establish that a taking has occurred.

I. <u>All of Plaintiff's Claims are Barred by the Absence of Causation</u>.

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